IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN RE: D.O.T. LITIGATION TGIG, LLC; NEVADA HOLISITIC MEDICINE, LLC; GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC; FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC; GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC; NEVADA PURE, LLC; MEDIFARM, LLC; MEDIFARM IV LLC; THC NEVADA, LLC; HERBAL CHOICE, INC.; RED EARTH LLC; NEVCANN LLC, GREEN THERAPEUTICS LLC; AND GREAN LEAF FARMS HOLDINGS LLC,

Appellants,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA, ON RELATION OF ITS DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case Alect Anically Filed Dec 22 2021 03:43 p.m. District Court Case Nolizabeth (A)4Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

CLARK HILL, PLLC

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an Appeal from two separate orders denominated Findings of Facts, Conclusions of Law and Order issued by the District Court in Phase I and Phase II of coordinated actions. The District Court issued its "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" for PHASE 1 on September 9, 2020. Notice of Entry of Order was served electronically on September 22, 2020. The District Court issued its "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" for PHASE 2 on September 3, 2020. Notice of Entry of Order was also served electronically on September 22, 2020. Appellant therein filed their Notice of Appeal on October 23, 2020 as required under NRAP 4(a)(1).

On September 10, 2020, Appellants filed a Motion to Amend the September 3, 2020 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Permanent Injunction relating to PHASE 2. By Minute Order dated October 15, 2020, the District Court denied the Motion to Amend but clarified the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. A written order denying the Motion was electronically filed on October 27, 2020.

This Court has jurisdiction to take this Appeal under NRAP 3A(b)(1) as the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law constitute final judgments entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered. This Court also has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(3) in that the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law for Phase II is an order granting or refusing to grant an injunction and the issues on Appeal include errors related to the breadth, scope and enforcement of the injunction granted by the District Court.

II.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court Per NRAP 17(2), (11), and (12). The matter involves the statewide ballot question legalizing the use and sale of marijuana, it is a matter raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law, and it is a matter raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did The District Court Err in its Analysis of the Issue Regarding Disclosure of the Physical Addresses of the Proposed Marijuana Establishments
- 2. Did The District Court Err in Failing to Issue Injunctive Relief for Plaintiffs' Loss of Market Share
- 3. Did The District Court Err By Permitting the DOT to Certify Its Own Compliance With the Injunction
- 4. Did The District Court Err In Failing to Fashion Remedies Consistent With The Ballot Initiative As Passed By Nevada Voters
- 5. Did The District Court Err in Failing to Admit Extra-Record Evidence in Phase I of the Trial

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nevada allows voters to amend its Constitution or enact legislation through the initiative process. Nevada Constitution, Article 19, Section 2. In 2016, Nevada voters Approved Ballot Question 2 ("BQ2"), an initiative legalizing recreational marijuana. In 2017, BQ2 was enacted by the legislature and codified as NRS 453D. The main goal was to decriminalize the use and sale of marijuana and to regulate on a very high level what had been a renegade illegal industry. The coordinated actions in this matter were calculated to address and did demonstrate a failure of purpose so profound that the State of Nevada itself has changed the regulatory Apparatus three times in the last five years.

During the 2017 legislative session, Assembly Bill 422 transferred responsibility for the registration, licensing, and regulation of marijuana establishments from the State of Nevada Division of Public and Behavioral Health to the Department of Taxation ("DoT"). On February 27, 2018, the DoT adopted regulations governing the issuance, suspension, or revocation of retail recreational marijuana licenses in LCB File No. R092-17, which were codified in NAC 453D (the "Regulations"). As the government agency charged with the implementation of the Nevada recreational marijuana program pursuant to NRS 453D.200, the DoT accepted and graded Applications for licenses to operate recreational retail

marijuana dispensaries across the state of Nevada from Approximately 463 Applicants between September and December 2018 (the "September 2018 Application Period").

Because the number of Applications far exceeded the available licenses, awards of licenses were subject to "an impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding process to determine which Application or Applications among those competing will be Approved." See NRS 453D.210(6). Pursuant to the process developed and implemented by the DoT, on December 5, 2018, the DoT announced the results and awarded Approximately 64 conditional licenses to successful Applicants.

After the DoT announced the license winners, several of the non-winning Applicants, including Appellants, brought multiple suits against the DoT asserting that the process the DOT used to award licenses violated various provisions of NRS Chapter 453D, violated the losing Applicants' constitutional rights under both the Federal and Nevada Constitutions, or was otherwise arbitrary and capricious for a multitude of reasons. The various plaintiffs sought multiple forms of relief including (a) setting aside the process in total; (b) remanding the matter back to the DoT for further development of an administrative record on the issue of "completeness" of the Applications; and/or (c) to obtain licenses under a number of different legal theories. Appellants filed their initial Complaint on or about January 4, 2019, naming the DoT as the sole party defendant. Several winning Applicants, believing that their interests were subject to the outcome of the litigation, sought to and were granted leave to intervene as party defendants aligned with DoT. Following evidentiary hearings on Appellants' Motion for Preliminary Injunction and various pre-trial motion proceedings, Appellants ultimately filed their operative Second Amended Complaint on or about November 26, 2019, naming the DoT and the intervening successful Applicants as party defendants.

On May 13, 2019, the District Court coordinated a number of the cases brought by non-winning Applicants in Department 11 of the Eighth Judicial District Court in order to determine whether a preliminary injunction should issue against the DoT. After conducting a nearly four-month evidentiary hearing on the matter, the District Court granted the preliminary injunction based on the failure of the DoT to conduct background checks of the Applicants as required under the ballot initiative.

Following the issuance of the preliminary injunction, the District Court adopted a Trial Protocol separating the trial into three (3) phases.

PHASE 1 encompassed all of the plaintiffs' claims for judicial review in the consolidated actions. Appellants in this case made such a claim in their Second

7

Amended Complaint and participated fully in PHASE 1.¹ The District Court issued its "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" for PHASE 1 on September 9, 2020. Notice of Entry of Order was served electronically on September 22, 2020.

PHASE 2 encompassed claims regarding the "(l)egality of the 2018 recreational marijuana Application process (claims for Equal Protection, Due Process, Declaratory Relief, Intentional Interference with Prospective Economic Advantage, Intentional Interference with Contractual Relations and Permanent Injunction." Again, Appellants made such claims and fully participated in PHASE 2 of the trial. The District Court issued its "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" for PHASE 2 on September 3, 2020. Notice of Entry of Order was served electronically on September 22, 2020.

PHASE 3 encompassed a more narrowly limited claim for "Writ of Mandamus -- regarding improper scoring of Applications related to calculation errors on the 2018 recreational marijuana Applications." The Trial Protocol further referenced the mandamus claims of plaintiffs in the consolidated cases other than Appellants, *i.e.*, MM Development and LiveFree and any other Plaintiffs with mandamus claims based on allegations of improper scoring of Applications due to calculation errors. While Appellants made claims for mandamus in their Second

¹ Because of issues related to Covid-19 and to accommodate briefing schedules, the trial of PHASE 2 actually occurred first. Trial of PHASE 1 followed completion of the trial on PHASE 2.

Amended Complaint, they did not include claims based upon allegations of "improper scoring of their Applications due to calculation errors." Rather, mandamus claims generally related to the arbitrary process utilized by the DoT and more particularly with the failure of the DoT to determine "completeness" of the Applications submitted to the DoT by the successful Applicants. As to this mandamus claim, the District Court denied that claim in its September 3, 2020 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law relating to PHASE 2 of the trial. The District Court ruled as follows: "The Court declines to issue an extraordinary writ unless a violation of the permanent injunction occurs." *See* September 3, 2020 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law at pg. 29, lines 20-21. Based upon the above and foregoing, Appellants are not a party to PHASE 3 of the trial as their mandamus claim was denied in PHASE 2.

Following the completion of PHASE 2 of the trial, the District Court issued a permanent injunction against the DoT enjoining it from conducting a final inspection of any of the conditional licenses issued in the September 2018 Application Period for any who did not provide the identification of each prospective owner, officer or board member as required by NRS 453D.200(6). Appellants herein assert that the scope of the permanent injunction should have been far broader to prevent final inspection and final issuance of licenses for any successful Applicant and that a "redo" of the licensing process should be ordered. At a minimum, Appellants assert

that the permanent injunction should have encompassed those successful Applicants who failed to submit a truthful and complete Application to the DoT during the September 2018 Application Period.

As to PHASE 1 of the trial, the District Court denied any relief to Appellants. At a minimum, the District Court should have remanded the matter back to the DoT to further develop an administrative record demonstrating that it considered the completeness of Applications submitted during the September 2018 Application Period before submitting the Applications to its supposedly impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding process. The District Court further should have permitted Appellants to supplement the certified administrative record with evidence that fully 70% of the Applications were fatally incomplete for failure to include required information and/or contained disclosures that were false and fraudulent --statutorily mandating the denial of such Applications. V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- Pursuant to the Regulations governing the September 2018 Application Period, a person holding a medical marijuana establishment registration certificate could JPAly for one or more recreational marijuana establishment licenses within the time set forth by the DoT in the manner described in the Application. NAC 453D.268.
- Each of the Plaintiffs were issued marijuana establishment licenses involving the cultivation, production and/or sale of medicinal marijuana in or about 2014 and filed Applications for recreational licenses within the September 2018 Application Period.
- 3. NRS 453D.210(6) mandated the DoT to use "an impartial and numerically scored competitive bidding process" to determine successful Applicants where competing Applications were submitted for a single county.
- 4. NAC 453D.272(1) provides the procedure for when the DoT receives more than one "complete" Application for a single county. Under this provision the DoT will determine if the Application is complete and in compliance with this chapter and Chapter 453D of NRS, the Department will rank the Applications . . . in order from first to last based on the compliance with the

provisions of this chapter and Chapter 453D of NRS and on the content of the Applications relating to . . ." several enumerated factors. NAC 453D.272(1).

- 5. The factors set forth in NAC 453D.272(1) that are used to rank competing Applications received for a single county (collectively, the "Factors") are:
 - (a) Whether the owners, officers or board members have experience operating another kind of business that has given them experience which is Applicable to the operation of a marijuana establishment;
 - (b) The diversity of the owners, officers or board members of the proposed marijuana establishment;
 - (c) The educational achievements of the owners, officers or board members of the proposed marijuana establishment;
 - (d) The financial plan and resources of the Applicant, both liquid and illiquid;
 - (e) Whether the Applicant has an adequate integrated plan for the care, quality and safekeeping of marijuana from seed to sale;
 - (f) The amount of taxes paid and other beneficial financial contributions, including, without limitation, civic or philanthropic involvement with this State or its political subdivisions, by the Applicant or the owners, officers or board members of the proposed marijuana establishment;

- (g) Whether the owners, officers or board members of the proposed marijuana establishment have direct experience with the operation of a medical marijuana establishment or marijuana establishment in this State and have demonstrated a record of operating such an establishment in compliance with the laws and regulations of this State for an adequate period of time to demonstrate success;
- (h) The (unspecified) experience of key personnel that the Applicant intends to employ in operating the type of marijuana establishment for which the Applicant seeks a license; and
- (i) Any other criteria that the Department determines to be relevant.
- The DoT posted the initial Application on its website and released the initial Application ("Initial Application") for recreational marijuana establishment licenses on July 6, 2018.
- After the public posting of the Application on July 6, 2018, Jorge Pupo, a DoT employee, unilaterally decided to eliminate the physical location requirement outlined in NRS 453D.210(5) and NAC 453D.265(1)(b)(3) from the Application review and scoring processes.
- 8. The DoT published a revised Application on July 30, 2018. The DoT sent the revised Application ("Revised Application") to all participants via the department's Listserv. The Revised Application modified the disclosure of the

physical address requirements set forth in the Initial Application. For example, a sentence on Attachment A of the Application, prior to this revision, had read: "Marijuana Establishment's proposed physical address (this must be a Nevada address and cannot be a P.O. Box)." The Revised Application on July 30, 2018, read: "Marijuana Establishment's proposed physical address if the Applicant owns property or has secured a lease or other property agreement (this must be a Nevada address and not a P.O. Box)." Otherwise, the Applications are virtually identical.

- 9. The modification of the Initial Application resulted in two different versions of the Application bearing the same "footer" being disseminated to Applicants with the original Initial Application remaining available on the DoT's website. The DoT accepted Applicant submissions regardless of whether the Applicant used the Initial Application or the Revised Application.
- 10. Notwithstanding that the Initial Application expressly and unqualifiedly required the Applicant to disclose the physical location of the proposed marijuana establishment, and that the Revised Application required disclosure of the physical location of the proposed marijuana establishment only if the Applicant owned the property or had secured a lease or other property agreement for the physical location, neither Application permitted the

Applicant to use an address in Attachment A that was a P.O. Box and/or was not the actual proposed physical location of the marijuana establishment.

- 11. Both versions of the Application required, in instruction 5.1.4, that "(a)ll information is to be completed as requested."
- 12. NAC 453D.312 requires the DoT to deny an Application for issuance of a license if any owner, officer or board member provides false or misleading information to the Department.
- 13. Further, Attachment A to both versions of the Application require the Applicant to attest that "the information provided to the Department for this Recreational Marijuana Establishment License Application is true and correct."
- 14. NAC 453D.272(1) required the DoT to determine which Applications were "complete and in compliance with this chapter and chapter 453D of NRS" prior to evaluating them for purposes of scoring and ranking. Only Applications that were complete and in compliance with statutes and regulations were eligible for scoring.
- 15. NRS 453D.210(5) provides that the DoT shall Approve a license Application if, among other things, "the physical address where the proposed marijuana establishment will operate is owned by the Applicant or the Applicant has the

written permission of the property owner to operate the proposed marijuana establishment on that property."

- 16. NAC 453D.265(1)(b)(3) requires that the <u>Application</u> include the physical address where the proposed marijuana establishment will be located and the physical address of any co-owned or otherwise affiliated marijuana establishments.
- 17. The DoT had created a working group of Pupo, Gilbert, Cronkhite, Plaskon, Sherrick-Warner and Hernandez to draft the Initial Application to be in compliance with the regulations and statute. After the Initial Application was Approved and disseminated to interested industry participants, the working group was disbanded.
- 18. Pupo, without input from the working group, independently determined to change the disclosure requirement of the property location in the Application and directed that the Revised Application be created.
- 19. Pupo also determined that, regardless of the language contained in the statute, regulations, Initial Application and Revised Application regarding the physical address of the proposed marijuana establishment, the DoT would not consider any disclosure of the physical address of the proposed marijuana establishment in determining whether an Application was complete, whether the Applicant

submitted truthful information to the DoT in its Application and/or as part of the DoT's scoring and ranking process.

- 20. Multiple Applicants submitted multiple Applications which included addresses for the "Marijuana Establishment's proposed physical address" which were nothing more than mail drops maintained at such locations by the UPS Store and other like vendors.
- 21. In evaluating whether an Application was "complete and in compliance" with the provisions of NAC 453D, the provisions of the Ballot Initiative and the enabling statute, the DoT made no effort to verify that the addresses supplied by Applicants constituted real physical addresses where a marijuana establishment might be operated and wholly ignored clear evidence that the addresses were mail drops -- for instance, a single Applicant submitted the same address for multiple locations and multiple Applicants used the same address (with different box or suite numbers) as used by other Applicants. Nonetheless, the DoT considered the Applications as complete, considered them in the scoring and ranking process and awarded licenses to the Applicants who disclosed false physical locations for proposed marijuana establishments.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As stated, in its FFCL dated September 3, 2020, the District Court granted

Plaintiffs' declaratory relief claims set forth in the Second Amended Complaint. The

District Court issued the following injunction:

The DoT acted beyond its scope of authority when it arbitrarily and capriciously replaced the mandatory requirement of BQ2, for the background check of each prospective owner, officer and board member with the 5 percent or greater standard in NAC 453.255(1). This decision by the DoT was not one they were permitted to make as it resulted in a modification of BQ2 in violation of Article 19, Section 2(3) of the Nevada Constitution. [JPA Vol. 333: 046848-046877 at 046876].

The State is permanently enjoined from conducting a final inspection of any of the conditional licenses issued in or about December 2018 for an Applicant who did not provide the identification of each prospective owner, officer and board member as required by NRS 453D.200(6). [JPA Vol. 333: 046848-046877 at 046876].

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