Case No. 82014

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN RE: D.O.T. LITIGATION

Electronically Filed Mar 29 2022 05:18 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

TGIG, LLC; NEVADA HOLISTIC MEDICINE, LLC; GBS NEVADA PARTNERS, LLC; FIDELIS HOLDINGS, LLC; GRAVITAS NEVADA, LLC; NEVADA PURE, LLC; MEDIFARM, LLC; MEDIFARM IV LLC; THC NEVADA, LLC; HERBAL CHOICE, INC.; RED EARTH LLC; NEVCANN LLC, GREEN THERAPEUTICS LLC; AND GREEN LEAF FARMS HOLDINGS LLC,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF TAXATION,

Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

AARON D. FORD
Nevada Attorney General
Steve Shevorski (Bar No. 8256)
Chief Litigation Counsel
Akke Levin (Bar No. 9102)

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

///

///

⁸ TGIG mistakenly cites NAC 453D.265(1)(b) throughout its brief, *e.g.*, OB at 28–29, but that regulation pertained to the so-called "one for one" applications for a license "of the same type" only. NAC 453D.265(1).

Here, by contrast, the Department used its discretion under NRS 453D.210(5) and changed the application for all applicants without singling any applicant out.

The Department's decision to amend the application cannot be compared to the "rate redesign" decision in *Pub. Serv. Comm'n of Nev. v. Sw. Gas Corp.*, 99 Nev. 268, 273, 662 P.2d 624, 627 (1983), which affected all consumers and was implemented without public notice. NRS Chapter 453D's requirements and policy to protect children from recreational marijuana remained intact: Applicants still had to comply with local zoning law and NRS 453D.210(5) before being granted final approval. And all TGIG appellants received the amended application and were on notice of the change to the application.

Thus, the Department could deviate from NAC 453D.268 without adopting a regulation.

4. TGIG showed no injury from the application change

"The threshold question in equal protection analysis is whether a statute [or decision] effectuates dissimilar treatment of similarly situated persons." *Rico v. Rodriguez*, 121 Nev. 695, 703, 120 P.3d 812, 817 (2005).

There is no basis to set aside the entire application process if applicants are unable to show they were prejudiced by it. *Cf. Sys. Stud.* & *Simulation, Inc. v. United States*, 22 F.4th 994, 997 (Fed. Cir. 2021) ("bid award may be set aside" if "the disappointed bidder [can] show a *clear* and *prejudicial* violation of applicable statutes or regulations") (internal quotation marks and citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, not a single TGIG appellant alleged or proved it was harmed by the Department's decision to accept applications without a physical location, nor could they: The physical location of the proposed RME was not scored, which TGI knew. NAC 453D.272; 270 JPA 38894–95, 38930–31; 321 JPA 45431–32. Indeed, the TGIG appellants concede that their mandamus claim did not allege improper scoring of their applications. See OB at 8-9.

The District Court was thus mistaken when finding that the "floor plan, community impact, security plan, and the sink locations" criteria were "dependent on a physical location." 333 JPA 46868. The responses to these criteria always had to be provided in "non-identified" format, meaning without identifying the proposed location. 270 JPA 038926–27, 38919 (defining "non-identified criteria response" and requiring

applicants to remove identifiers such as "street address, city, county, precinct, ZIP code") (emphasis added).

Thus, TGIG's entire "physical address" argument is a red herring.

C. The District Court did not abuse its discretion to deny injunctive relief on TGIG's loss of market share theory

The District Court did not abuse its discretion in denying an injunction for TGIG's alleged loss of market share because TGIG: (1) has no due process right to a discretionary license; (2) has no property interest in a market share; (3) did not prove a violation of its rights; and (4) did not prove it was entitled to injunctive relief.

1. TGIG had no due process right to a license

TGIG complains that the District Court erred in not awarding a remedy for its due process claim, OB at 31-32, but TGIG's due process claim was dead on arrival.

"The Due Process Clauses of the United States and Nevada Constitutions prohibit the State from depriving any person 'of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." *Malfitano v. Cty. of Storey By & Through Storey Cty. Bd. of Cty. Commissioners*, 133 Nev. 276, 282, 396 P.3d 815, 819 (2017) (citing U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1 and Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8(5)).

The mere unilateral expectation of receiving a license is not a property interest on which a due process claim can be based. *Malfitano*, 133 Nev. at 282, 396 P.3d at 819–20. Here, as in *Malfitano*, the Department "did not revoke existing licenses," nor did TGIG demonstrate "a legitimate claim of entitlement to the licenses at issue." *Id.* at 284, 396 P.3d at 821. Thus, TGIG's alleged loss of market share theory could not be founded on a due process claim to begin with, and its due process claim should have been dismissed at the outset.

2. NRS Chapter 598A creates no property interest in a market share

The protections of NRS Chapter 598A do "not apply" to conduct "expressly authorized, regulated, or approved" by statute or "administrative agency . . . having "jurisdiction of the subject matter." NRS 598A.040(3)(a)-(c).

Here, the issuance of new RME licenses was "expressly authorized" by NRS 453D.210, which tasked the Department with accepting additional applications and issuing new licenses for RMEs. In fact, NRS 453D.210 dictates that the Department "shall" accept qualifying applications so long as they do not exceed the statutory limit in each jurisdiction. NRS 453D.210(5)(d).

Thus, TGIG is wrong to contend that it has a "statutorily protected" property interest in a "market share" of the marijuana business under NRS Chapter 598A. OB at 32. The risk of TGIG's market share diminishing, OB at 35, 38, was inherent in and authorized by the Ballot Initiative codified in NRS Chapter 453D. 309 JPA 44047.

3. TGIG did not prove a violation of its rights

"It is axiomatic that a court cannot provide a remedy unless it has found a wrong." *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Jafbros Inc.*, 109 Nev. 926, 928, 860 P.2d 176, 178 (1993). A party seeking a permanent injunction must prove that its rights were violated. *Id.*; *see also* NRS 33.010(1) (plaintiff must be "entitled to the relief demanded. . .").

TGIG repeatedly argues that it has a right to be protected from "unfair competition" but failed to prove how any of them was treated unfairly in the licensing process. TGIG cannot blame its inability to prove damages on applicants (such as TGIG, LLC itself) that listed only a P.O. Box on their applications. OB at 35-36. TGIG was required to show that each of them was injured in their chances to obtain licenses because other applicants listed no physical address. TGIG failed to do so.

4. TGIG did not prove damages

"A party seeking damages has the burden of providing the court with an evidentiary basis upon which it may properly determine the amount of damages." Frantz v. Johnson, 116 Nev. 455, 469, 999 P.2d 351, 360 (2000) (citing Mort Wallin v. Commercial Cabinet, 105 Nev. 855, 857, 784 P.2d 954, 955 (1989)). If, as here, a party uses "an expert economist" on damages, the expert's testimony must not be "speculative but [] based on facts known to the expert at the time." Frantz, 116 Nev. at 469, 999 P.2d at 360 (citing cases).

Contrary to TGIG's contention, OB at 33-34, the District Court did not err in treating TGIG's market share theory as a claim for damages, because TGIG's due process claim specifically asked for damages. 49 JPA 6040 (¶¶ 77-79).

TGIG's own experts testified that the market for recreational marijuana was not yet saturated and well below the national average of dispensaries per capita, so that new RME licenses would not necessarily diminish TGIG's market share. 309 JPA 44008, 44030–31; 318 JPA 45231–34. TGIG's expert did not quantify the applicants' market share before or after the award of RME licenses. 309 JPA 44051–52. Thus, the

District Court correctly concluded, based on TGIG's own experts' testimony, that there were too many variables related to new licenses and that the claim of loss of market share was too speculative for relief. 333 JPA 46869 (¶ 73).

5. TGIG was not entitled to the injunction it sought

"The decision to grant or deny a preliminary injunction is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and that discretion will not be disturbed absent abuse." S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 407, 23 P.3d 243, 246 (2001). TGIG failed to show an abuse of discretion.

Even assuming TGIG had a vested property right in an RME license and proved a loss of market share (it did not), TGIG was required to show that damages were inadequate to compensate TGIG. *Jafbros Inc.*, 109 Nev. at 928, 860 P.2d at 178; *Chateau Vegas Wine v. S. Wine & Spirits*, 127 Nev. 818, 824, 265 P.3d 680, 684 (2011). In *Chateau Vegas Wine*, an injunction was necessary to stop the ongoing interference with the plaintiff's exclusive right to import certain French wines, which damages could not cure: The defendant's failure to use adequate quality control measures compromised the quality and reputation of the wines

and the reputation of the plaintiff as the sole authorized importer. *Id.* at 829, 265 P.3d at 687.

Here, TGIG not only failed to prove that damages were inadequate, TGIG altogether failed to prove *any* damage from new RME licenses on the market. TGIG has no exclusive rights to operate RMEs in Nevada and never proved it was harmed by the licensing process.

Moreover, TGIG relies on inapposite preliminary injunction cases. See OB at 33-34 (citing, e.g., Barlow v. Sipes, 744 N.E.2d 1 (Ind. Ct. App. 2001); and Huong Que, Inc. v. Luu, 150 Cal.App.4th 400, 418, 58 Cal.Rptr.3d 527, 541-42 (2007)). In Luu, for example, the plaintiff had suffered economic harm and Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 526(a)(5) allowed for a preliminary injunction if it "would be extremely difficult to ascertain the amount of compensation." Luu, 150 Cal.App.4th at 418, 58 Cal.Rptr.3d at 541. No comparable statute or facts exist here.

Finally, "an injunction is only issued to prevent apprehended injury or mischief, and affords no redress for wrongs already committed." *Sherman v. Clark*, 4 Nev. 138, 141 (1868). But TGIG did not seek a permanent injunction to prevent future harm. TGIG's due process claim asked for "permanent injunctive relief" for past alleged wrongs in the

form of an order issuing "the subject licenses to *Plaintiffs*" instead. 49 JPA 6040 (¶ 77) (emphasis added). In other words, TGIG sought an injunction to increase their own market share.

6. The equities also weigh against TGIG

To obtain a permanent injunction, TGIG was also required to show that "the balance of equities favors" them. *Jafbros Inc.*, 109 Nev. at 928, 860 P.2d at 178 (internal quotation marks omitted).

TGIG's Opening Brief gives this requirement short shrift because it is fatal to its request for equitable relief. OB at 39. The TGIG appellants engaged in the same conduct that they say the winning applicants engaged in: TGIG, LLC itself listed a P.O. Box on its application and failed to disclose John Ritter, TGIG, LLC's advisory board member and manager; Medifarm failed to list its thousands of shareholders and also had sales to minors; Nevada Pure had undisclosed owners; Nevada Holistic Medicine, LLC did not list its general manager and prospective manager; Herbal Choice did not disclose its investors and board members; and none of the TGIG plaintiffs proved their own applications were complete. 322 JPA 45543–47, 45645–49; 325 JPA 45727–28, 45818–19, 45827, 45845.

Thus, the balance of the equities did not weigh in favor of granting TGIG "permanent injunctive relief," let alone in the form of an order "to issue the [RME] licenses to Plaintiffs" 49 JPA 6040 (¶ 77).

D. The District Court did not err by allowing the Department to certify compliance with NRS 453D200(6)

The interpretation of a statute is a question of law that the Court reviews de novo. *Int'l Game Tech., Inc. v. Dist. Ct.*, 124 Nev. 193, 198, 179 P.3d 556, 559 (2008).

NRS 453D.200(6) required the Department to "conduct a background check of each prospective owner, officer, and board member of a marijuana establishment license applicant." The Department was further required to adopt "before January 1, 2018, . . . all regulations necessary or convenient to carry out the provisions of this chapter" without making the operation of marijuana establishments "unreasonably impracticable." NRS 453D.200(1).

Using its authority under NRS 453D.200(1), the Department adopted a regulation providing that NAC Chapter 453D only applied to "owners of marijuana establishments . . . with an aggregate ownership interest of 5 percent or more in a marijuana establishment." NAC

453D.255(1) (hereinafter, the "5 % Rule"). The Department retained the discretion to apply NAC Chapter 453D to persons owning less than 5% if it served the public interest. NAC 453D.255(2).

1. The 5% Rule was not arbitrary or capricious

As an initial matter, the 5% Rule issue TGIG raises is moot. As explained in the Department's answering brief to the opening briefs filed by Herbal Choice, THC, and the Green Therapeutics, LLC appellants, both NRS 453D.200(6) and NAC 453D.255 have been repealed. As a result, any judicially cognizable injury redressable by prospective relief no longer exists. See, e.g., Diffenderfer v. Central Baptist Church of Miami, Fla., Inc., 404 U.S. 412, 415 (1972).

Moreover, and contrary to the District Court's conclusion, 333 JPA 46876, the Department's adoption of the 5% Rule was not an arbitrary or capricious violation of a constitutional requirement.

First, the Department's interpretation of NRS 453D.200(6) is entitled to deference. *State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000). The 5% Rule was a fair interpretation of an ambiguous statute. NRS 453D.200(6) does not define the term "prospective owner," or give guidance on when and how

background checks must be performed, let alone when the applicant is a publicly traded company.

Second, the 5% Rule was a "necessary" regulation to make the operation of marijuana establishments available to all business entities—including publicly held corporations. NRS 453D.200(1). Had the Department required corporations to list all their "prospective" shareholders—including those holding 1% or less and those holding their interests through intermediaries—the Department would have made application for RME licenses "unreasonably impracticable." NRS 453D.200(1).

TGIG's expert agreed: Mr. Holyfield testified that verifying shareholders who held a 1% ownership interest or less, would be "next to impossible." 305 JPA 435004.

Q. . . . And so is it your opinion that [] if somebody owns a 1 percent interest in a recreational marijuana company should not have to have a background check?

A. Unless there's some suspicion as to why, I don't see how you could possibly do that for every – every shareholder.

305 JPA 43543-44 (emphasis added).

Mr. Holyfield also agreed that the Department should not have to do new background checks and talk to shareholders each time shares changed hands, which could happen daily:

A. No. I think in your hypothetical situation, I believe that they would be talking to the people who control the companies, not just every day. Like if I invested a thousand dollars in one of these corporations and I sold it the next day, **it would be impossible** to do that in my --it would just – wouldn't be practical.

305 JPA 43542–43 (emphasis added).

Thus, TGIG's expert agreed that the key thing was to determine the owners who controlled the company, id., which is precisely what the 5% Rule captured.

2. The Department's determination of compliance with NRS 453D.200(6) was not subject to judicial review

The Department—not the District Court or TGIG—was required to determine whether all applications were "complete and in compliance" with applicable statutes and regulations. NAC 453D.272(1); NRS 453D.210(4).

TGIG avoids the plain language of NAC 453D.272(1) and NRS 453D.210(4) and relies on cases involving administrative decisions rendered in contested cases. OB at 43 (citing, e.g., Tighe v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't, 110 Nev. 632, 634, 877 P.2d 1032, 1034 (1994) and

State, Emp. Sec. v. Hilton Hotels, 102 Nev. 606, 608, 729 P.2d 497, 498 (1986)).

But the "application process provided by NRS 453[D] does not constitute a contested case." State, Dep't of Health and Human Servs. v. Samantha Inc., 133 Nev. 809, 810, 407 P.3d 327, 328 (2017) ("Samantha"). TGIG had no right to judicial review of the Department's determination. Id. at 815-16, 407 P.3d at 332. Thus, the "substantial evidence" standard applicable to decisions rendered in contested cases does not apply to the Department's compliance with NRS 453D.200(6).

3. TGIG waived its right to complain about the Department's certification of compliance

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